
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Overview Scrutiny 
Committee

Members of the Overview Scrutiny Committee of Gravesham Borough Council are summoned 
to attend a meeting to be held at the Civic Centre, Gravesend, Kent on Thursday, 22 November 
2018 at 7.30 pm when the business specified in the following agenda is proposed to be 
transacted.

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies 

2. Minutes (Pages 5 - 8)

3. Declarations of interest 

4. To consider whether any items in Part A will be considered in private or any 
items in Part B in public 

5. Call ins 
Items called in from the Cabinet meeting of 12 November 2018.

(Please ensure you have access to the Cabinet agenda for 12 November 
2018, previously circulated to Members).

6. Balancing the Budget - Additional Budget Initiatives (Pages 9 - 18)

7. Scrutiny Review of Proposed Council-endorsed Trading Companies - Draft 
Report 

 Report to 
follow

To provide the Committee with the draft report for the Proposed Council-
endorsed Trading Companies Scrutiny Review.



8. Scrutiny Review of Grass Cutting & Horticulture - Draft Report (Pages 19 - 40)

To provide the Committee with the draft report for the Grass Cutting & 
Horticulture Scrutiny Review.

9. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

10.Private Items 
To move, if required, that pursuant to section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of schedule 12A of the Act.

Part B
Items likely to be considered in private

11.Call Ins 
Items called in from the Cabinet meeting of 12 November 2018.

(Please ensure you have access to the Cabinet agenda for 12 November 
2018, previously circulated to Members).

Members

Cllr John Burden (Chair)
Cllr Sara Langdale (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Lee Croxton
Leslie Hills
Samir Jassal
William Lambert
Makhan Singh
Jenny Wallace

Substitutes: To be notified





This page is intentionally left blank



1

Overview Scrutiny Committee

Thursday, 18 October 2018 7.30 pm

Present:

Cllr John Burden (Chair)
Cllr Sara Langdale (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Gary Harding
William Lambert
Shane Mochrie-Cox
Makhan Singh
Jenny Wallace

Chris Wakeford Committee Services Officer (Scrutiny)

81. Apologies 

An apology for absence was received from Councillor Lee Croxton and Councillor Leslie 
Hills; Cllr Shane Mochrie-Cox and Councillor Gary Harding appeared as their respective 
substitutes. An apology for absence was also received from Councillor Samir Jassal.

82. Minutes 

The Minutes of the meeting held 13 September 2018 were signed by the Chair.

83. Declarations of interest 

No declarations of interest were made.

84. Oral Update on the two Scrutiny Reviews 

The Chair provided the Committee with an oral update following the first meetings of the 
sub-groups for the following two Overview Scrutiny Topic Reviews on 10 October 2018: 

1. Review of proposed council-endorsed trading companies 
2. Review of Grass Cutting and Horticulture

Page 5 Agenda Item 2



Overview Scrutiny Committee 18.10.2018

2

Scrutiny Review of proposed Council-endorsed Trading Companies meeting 10 October 
2018

In attendance: 

Cllr John Burden (Chair)   Labour
Cllr Shane Mochrie-Cox   Labour
Cllr Leslie Hills                       Conservative
Cllr William Lambert           Gravesham Independent Conservatives

Stuart Bobby - Director (Corporate Services)
Sarah Parfitt - Assistant Director (Corporate Services) 
Lauren Wallis - Committee Services Officer (notes)

The Chair highlighted the following matters that were discussed at the meeting on 10 
October 2018:

 The meeting dealt with the legal functions including the role of directors on any local 
authority company board established to manage the housing development proposed 
by Reef and how structurally there will in all likelihood be a parent company with 
subsidiaries below it.

 There a two potential routes: 
1. Go through the Council 
2. Go through the Executive (i.e. Cabinet). 
It was the view of the group that there should be a cabinet member who will be a 
director on the company but the cabinet member must not be involved with any 
executive function of the council that would be discharged through that company to 
avoid conflicts of interest.

 There could be a Member working group set up to advise on any issues.
 Officers will also sit on the board but not the Director (Corporate Services) as he is 

the Council’s Chief Finance Officer under Section 151 of the Local Government Act 
1972.

 There is the opportunity for junior officers to get experience through involvement in 
the subsidiary companies.

 At this stage the proposed companies are likely to complete a majority of their work 
for the council, not trade wholly with the private sector, so they won’t be subject to 
competition rules; this also means staff won’t need to be to TUPE transferred 
(Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) Regulations 1981).

 If subsidiary companies are set up there will be the opportunity to get other officers 
involved. If the company is successful / vibrant it will be subject to VAT & other rules 
in the same way as any other company.

 The Council uses the Green Book Rules that set out employment arrangements for 
staff e.g. pay, conditions of service etc. It is anticipated that the proposed companies 
will embrace these rules.

 The Chair reiterated that the review group is an advisory group that can provide 
recommendations but ultimately this is a matter for Cabinet to decide.

 There will be a presentation to all Members on the legal aspects of setting up and 
running a Local Authority Trading Company in the near future.

Page 6



Overview Scrutiny Committee 18.10.2018

3

 Council staff will be fully engaged to ensure they have a good awareness of Local 
Authority Trading Companies and the associated arrangements.  

 The next meeting of the review group will take place on 5 November 2018. It is 
anticipated that this will be the last meeting of the group before the review report and 
recommendations are finalised and brought back to the Overview Scrutiny 
Committee before going on to Cabinet.

Scrutiny Review of Grass Cutting and Horticulture meeting 10 October 2018

In attendance:

Cllr John Burden (Chair)      Labour
Cllr Lyn Milner                      Labour
Cllr Gary Harding          Conservative
Cllr Sara Langdale               Gravesham Independent Conservative

Nick Brown – Director (Environment & Operations) 
Stuart Alford – Assistant Director (Environment) 
Martin Wates – Horticultural Services Manager 
Lauren Wallis – Committee Services Officer (notes)

The Chair highlighted the following matters that were discussed at the meeting on 10 
October 2018:

 The group discussed the frequency of grass cutting, whether it is sufficient and how 
some areas in the Borough could be maintained more efficiently.

 Consideration was given to how the budget could be adjusted in order to ensure 
green space is satisfactorily maintained.

 Officers confirmed that the GBC website does have a section that maps out who is 
responsible (GBC or KCC) for the maintenance of land / green space in the Borough.

 The Chair explained that the Council has a ‘land terrier’ which is a record of its land 
and property holdings. Any unregistered areas of land are owned by the Crown.

 The group discussed the different types of trees in the Borough and how to work with 
planners to ensure the right species of tree are planted in the right places.

 The next meeting of the review group will take place on 5 November 2018. It is 
anticipated that this will be the last meeting of the group before the review report and 
recommendations are finalised and brought back to the Overview Scrutiny 
Committee before going on to Cabinet.

The Committee discussed the possibility of allowing residents to look after small areas of 
land near their homes and requested that this be discussed at the next meeting of the review 
group on 5 November 2018.

Resolved that the Committee noted the oral update and the date of the next meeting for the 
two reviews.

Page 7



Overview Scrutiny Committee 18.10.2018

4

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 8.08 pm

Page 8



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Overview Scrutiny Committee

Date: 22 November 2018

Reporting officer: Stuart Bobby, Director (Corporate Services)

Subject: Balancing the Budget – Additional Budget Initiatives

Purpose and summary of report: 

To provide the Overview Scrutiny Committee with details of an additional suite of 
savings/income generating suggestions, in order to meet the additional budget gap for the 
council.

Recommendations:

Overview Scrutiny Committee Members are requested to review and discuss the initiatives 
that are set out in appendix two of the report and consider any additional feedback relating to 
the proposals as necessary.

1. Introduction

1.1 The council’s Medium-term Financial Strategy 2016-17 to 2019-20, set out an 
identified funding gap by 2019-20 of £2.5m.  This identified gap increased to 
£2.9m at budget setting 2017-18, primarily driven by changes to the design of the 
New Homes Bonus Scheme.  The strategy incorporated a number of workstreams 
that would be put in place to ‘bridge the gap’ in funding that the council was facing 
at the time (detailed overleaf):

Bridging the Gap Activity
- Property Acquisition Strategy (Phase 1) (400,000)
- Fees and Charges Activity (270,000)
- Service Review Process Option Implementation (1,430,000)
- Shared Service Progression (240,000)
- Budgetary Challenge Measures (200,000)
- Property Acquisition Strategy (Phase 2) (397,000)

TOTAL VALUE OF ACTIVITY (2,937,000)

£

Page 9 Agenda Item 6



2

1.2 Over recent years, officers have been working to deliver the savings required 
against each of the identified activities and have made significant progress; 
approx. £800k is still required in order to meet the full £2.9m required and work is 
continuing to deliver these initiatives as per the updates which have been 
provided to both the Cabinet and Overview Scrutiny Committee on a six-monthly 
basis over the past two years.

1.3 Over the course of the past two years, however, there have been a number of 
further changes which have culminated in the need to identify additional 
savings/income generation initiatives to deliver at least, a further £1 million in 
order to balance the Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan:

 Base rate increases from Bank of England – the investment returns from 
residual cash-flow balances of the council have not increased as quickly 
as anticipated due to the Bank of England not raising the base rate as 
quickly as was anticipated.

 The pay award in 2017-18 and the introduction of the Living Wage have 
resulted in increases to employee costs within the MTFP which are excess 
of the levels originally budgeted for.

 The council has not met the ‘dead weight’ level for new homes which was 
introduced by the Government and as such, has received less income 
from the New Homes Bonus initiative than originally estimated.

As detailed above, this has delivered an additional pressure of at least £1 million 
for the General Fund Revenue Account which needs to be addressed, and the 
Budget Setting report to Full Council in March 2018 outlined that proposals would 
be brought forward during the 2018 year for consideration.

1.4 Whilst this additional budget gap has been calculated as being at least £1 million, 
it should be noted that there continues to be further financial risks facing the 
council which also need to be taken into account moving forward:

 Introduction of IFRS9 – the introduction of IFRS9 will require local 
authorities who hold certain types of financial instruments to account for 
any growth or reduction in the capital value of those investments in their 
annual accounts.  The council may need to consider providing a buffer 
against any potential decline in income from such investments if they are 
to avoid shocks from the movement in the capital value of those 
investments.  The detail of this initiative is currently out for consultation but 
at this stage, the suggestion from central Government is that local 
authorities would be able to delay introduction of this for three years; 
accordingly, authorities would then have the option to either extract 
themselves from such investments or build up their reserves to cover this 
within the three-year period.  The Finance Team are currently evaluating 
the impact of this accounting standard upon the authority’s investment 
portfolio, and an appropriate response to the impact will be detailed once 
the consultation responses have been considered by central government.

 Future financing of local government and business rates retention – the 
Fair Funding review is currently being undertaken and it is highly 
anticipated that there will be a ‘re-balancing’ of the finances for local 
government which will in all likelihood see a greater proportion of central 
government funding and locally generated business rates being received 
by upper tier authorities and therefore less to district councils.  Any 
changes are due to come into force for the 2020-21 financial year, and 

Page 10



3

therefore the authority will receive little notice of any further reductions in 
funding that might apply as a result of the review.

Both of these issues pose significant risks to the council which could result in the 
need for savings to be achieved more quickly and the potential for the value of the 
savings identified to also increase.

1.5 Despite the additional saving requirement for the council identified in this report, 
the savings requirement per day has reduced as a result of in excess of £2m of 
savings/increases in income having already been implemented.  It has therefore 
now been calculated that the council will be overspending at a rate of £5,000 per 
working day by 2022 should the proposals within this report not be implemented..

2. Proposed Balancing the Budget Initiatives

2.1 In order to take a step towards addressing the additional budget gap of at least £1 
million, officers have been working to identify potential budget savings initiatives 
and income generating ideas in order to bridge this gap.  These options were 
taken from a number of sources:

 Previous service review options that had been disregarded and/or 
additional suggestions from the Service Review Team.

 Research into new savings initiatives being implemented at other local 
authorities.

 A systematic review of each line of expenditure and income within the 
authority’s accounts, together with consideration of potential initiatives in 
future years and the impact of those initiatives on the budgets of the 
council’s services.

 Suggestions from directorates and departments themselves.

2.2 This exercise has produced a list of options which were presented to Cabinet on 
12 November 2018.  These options are considered viable at this time, having 
taken into account previous discussions by the Cabinet, at Overview Scrutiny, 
changes in the law, and changes to the way in which some of the Council’s 
services are now delivered.

2.3 Appendix two to this report sets out those initiatives that have been identified, with 
this list amounting to just under £1.3 million.  Given the risks that are outlined at 
Section 1.4 of this report, it is considered prudent to consider options that deliver 
more than the identified budget gap at this time, pending the outcome of the fair 
funding review, and consideration of the IFRS9 consequences by central 
government.  It should be noted that, whilst these initiatives have been identified 
as the most viable, there will still need to be detailed analysis in order to ensure 
that their implementation does not have a detrimental impact on other 
services/initiatives.

Page 11



4

3. Next steps and future reporting

3.1 It is suggested that update reports on these new initiatives, together with the 
residual actions remaining from the agreed service review options, be presented 
back to Cabinet and the Overview Scrutiny Committee in November 2019.  As 
some of the initiatives will take some time to implement, this will provide sufficient 
time for actions to be progressed effectively, in order to provide a meaningful 
update to Members.

4. Background Papers

4.1 Background papers pertaining to this report are held by the Director (Corporate 
Services).  Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first 
place, be directed to Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary 
arrangements.

Page 12



5

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal As part of the service review process, a detailed analysis of the statutory nature of 
the services delivered by the council was undertaken to ensure that the council 
continues to deliver those services that it has a statutory duty to.  
There is a need for the council to give due regard to the Duty to Consult where it is 
required as the council undertakes to fulfil its 'Best Value' Duty.  Where it is felt that 
consultation with either the Public or Officers of the council is required, decisions 
will be taken in principle subject to the findings from the consultation activities so 
that this feedback can be taken into account.

Finance and 
Value for 
Money 

Section one of the report sets out the financial challenge facing the council and the 
requirement to achieve an additional £1m savings from additional ‘balancing the 
budget’ initiatives.

Risk 
Assessment

In implementing any of the options identified, there will be due consideration to any 
specific risks associated with the initiative at the appropriate time.

Screening for Equality ImpactsEquality 
Impact 
Assessment Question

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A - a detailed equality impact assessment will be undertaken for each of the 
initiatives implemented as required.

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate 
Plan

The balancing the budget initiatives cut across all council services and therefore 
has a direct impact on the delivery of the council’s corporate objectives.  

Crime and 
Disorder

There are no crime and disorder implications resulting from the decisions to be 
made within this report.

Digital and 
website 
implications

There is the potential for digital and website implications depending on the 
initiatives that Members approve.  Relevant officers have been involved in the 
discussions regarding these points and will continue to be moving forward.

Page 13



6

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable 
adults

There are no safeguarding children and vulnerable adults implications resulting 
from the decisions to be made within this report.

Page 14



Appendix Two

Proposed additional budget initiatives Page 1 of 4

Additional Balancing the Budget Initiatives Proposed

Cabinet Portfolio Initiative Further information Estimated Saving/
Income Generated

How quick to
implement?

Leader's Portfolio Review of the expenditure
associated with Mayoral
allowances

Review the expenditure on mayoral allowances compared to similar sized district councils. £5,000 May-19

Leader's Portfolio Actively seek Government
Funding Initiatives

There are a number of alternative funding sources for local authorities to enable them to continue to
deliver specific initiatives.  It would be beneficial to explore these opportunities in more detail.

This initiative will deliver financial sustainability to the
council although through specific projects and as such,
it is difficult to relate a specific income value to this.

There may be resource implication in terms of
ensuring these funding streams are actively sourced.

Leader's Portfolio Review of the Corporate
Inflation provision

The provision allowed for in the budget should be reviewed to ensure that it is sufficient but is not too
high. This will need to ensure that ongoing inflation pressures are taken into account and potentially, a
small contingency budget is maintained to ensure that there is a sum available should any new
pressures that are not already known emerge.

£180,000 2020-21

Leader's Portfolio Review of the loan pool
arrangements 

There is the potential to move to two loan pools from 2020, when the stock loan is repaid, which would
result in lower interest charges to the council's General Fund.  The saving figure identified relates to
saving in 2020 and there is the potential for this to increase year-on-year.  This is considered to be an
equitable option to put forward as the authority considers a significant undertaking of borrowing for the
proposed development of the Heritage Quarter Scheme, and without dispanding the loans pool (i.e.
creating two separate loans pools - one for the General Fund and one for the HRA), a significant
proportion of the debt costs associated with that borrowing would fall upon the Housing Revenue
Account.  In early 2020, before this borrowing is scheduled to be taken out, the authority will be in the
position (for the first time in many years) where all debt costs relate solely to the Housing Revenue
Account, being in relation to the HRA Self-financing loans, and therefore this is seen as the most
equitable opportunity to disband the single loans pool for the benefit of both the General Fund and the
HRA.

£480,000 From 2020

P
age 15



Appendix Two

Proposed additional budget initiatives Page 2 of 4

Leader's Portfolio Increase parking charges
within the borough

Gravesham has some of the lowest parking charges in Kent, despite having some of the best
transport links in to London.  The most recent increase to parking fees took place in November 2015.
Since this time other parking providers, local authorities and private companies, have increased their
parking fees as have all rail and bus providers, however Gravesham’s parking charges have remained
static. It is important that parking fees are set accurately to ensure the most effective use of space
whilst taking in to account what others charge and location to amenities. The current fees have been
reviewed and an increase is proposed that applies an incremental increase to each of the existing
tariffs  so that the lowest increase is for those that are likely to be using local facilities, and the higher
increase for those that are likely to be using facilities outside of the town centre including commuting.
It should be borne in mind that this proposed increase is broadly in line with the level of inflation
experienced since November 2015 - whereby since that time (and forecasting to the likely
implementation date for any new increase), the compound effect of inflation has been around 11%
over the period during which there has been no increase to any charges within the Council-owned
vehicle parks.

The figure identified assumes that usage will continue as per the current trend.

£175,000 Jan-19

Leader's Portfolio Review of long-standing staff
vacancies

Vacancies are reviewed on a regular basis but there is a need to undertake a fundamental review of
the long-standing vacancies that are on the establishment.    Where it is felt a post is no longer
required, it should be removed from the establishment and therefore the overall council budget.

£100,000 Immediately

Leader's Portfolio Progress the introduction of a
Local Authority Trading
Company (LATC) to enable
commercialisation of council
activities.

This is actively being explored and is also the focus of the new topic review identified by the Overview
Scrutiny Committee.

As per previous Member briefings, it is currently understood that the authority would require a LATCO
to be formed in order to own and manage any private rental sector residential properties delivered as
part of the Heritage Quarter scheme.  Other potential uses of the company structure could be in
relation to the delivery of repairs and maintenance services to domestic properties (using any spare
capacity from the Council's social housing repairs service) or providing an MOT and servicing facility
for private motor vehicles or fleets using the existing workshop facilities at the Depot.

It is difficult to suggest an
income figure associated
with this but it is
recognised that this will
increase income streams
to the council.

To tie-in with Scrutiny
Review - commences
September 2018

Community Services
Portfolio

Council events - review the
overall budget for the events in
the future.

Following a strategic review of the budgets associated with council events, taking into account current
levels of sponsorship and the existing events programme, it is considered that the existing budgets
can be reduced without any direct impact upon the current events programme.

£15,000 Immediately

Environmental
Services Portfolio

Review of the provision of dog
warden services

Currently there is a 0.5FTE post in this service area which is vacant.  The vacant element of the post
was 'held over' whilst the shared service for Environmental Health was being explored but given that
this is not being pursued, it is felt that this post should be deleted from the establishment as it is no
longer required.

£16,000 Immediately

Cabinet Portfolio Initiative Further information Estimated Saving/
Income Generated

How quick to
implement?

P
age 16



Appendix Two

Proposed additional budget initiatives Page 3 of 4

Environmental
Services Portfolio

Explore the possibility of using
reusable recycling bags for
those currently on the clear
sack system.

There are approximately 5,600 households receiving clear sacks as their properties are not suitable
for recycling wheelie bins.  The current cost of providing clear bags is £15,000 per year, however this
would not be the full saving as with wheelie bins there will need to be a replacement fund set up to
replace lost or broken recepticles.

There are a couple of options available which need to be investigated and costed fully.

£10,000 Jun-19

Housing Portfolio Review the use of GBC-owned
Garages

Following a fundamental review of the use of GBC-owned garages, and clarification of the legal
position, it has been determined that where such garages or parking spaces are being rented out to
non-GBC tenants, the income and expenditure associated with those assets should be appropriated to
the General Fund rather than the Housing Revenue Account as has traditionally been the case in the
past.  Furthermore, as part of the review, it has been identified that the rent that is being charged for
such assets can be reviewed to reflect current market conditions for such spaces, and their proximity
to vehicle parks.

£180,000 2018-19

Performance &
Administration

Portfolio

Undertake a review of the
contracts currently held on the
Kent Portal

A thorough review of the contracts held by the council needs to be undertaken in order to identify if
there are contracts in place that are either no longer required or if rationalisation could take place.

This will also look at the potential for better use of the 'Social Value in contracts and better use of this
provision.

Work has commenced in
this area but it is not yet
known what the savings
associated with this task
could be.

2018-19

Performance &
Administration

Portfolio

Provision of office
accommodation at Brookvale
Depot

A site has been identified at Brookvale Depot which would allow for the construction of a purpose built
office block which could then be let to other agencies/companies for a rental income.

The council could/would need to borrow the funds to initiate this development through PWLB, but
taking account of borrowing costs and working on the basis of an 8% yield, the net income could be in
the region of £60,000 per annum.

£60,000 Delivery of the site by the
end of 2022

Performance &
Administration

Portfolio

Review of council assets
(including land sites)

The council has a number of assets and it would be beneficial to undertake a full review of all assets in
order to identify if there are either alternative uses of the assets, sale of assets or sale/development of
GBC-owned land where it is suitable to do so.  This ties in with the potential introduction of business
incubator space within the borough as well.

It is difficult to put a
specific sum on what this
could achieve for the
council and there is the
potential that this may not
be an ongoing revenue
stream moving forward.

2018-19 onwards

Planning &
Regeneration

Portfolio

Review the way in which
regeneration projects are
managed in the future.

Given the changing nature of the way in which key regeneration projects are now dealt with by the
authority and the recognition that there is very little (if any) government funding now available for such
projects, there is a need to review the way in which the council approaches the management of these
projects in the future.

£53,000 Review could commence
immediately.

Cabinet Portfolio Initiative Further information Estimated Saving/
Income Generated

How quick to
implement?

P
age 17



Appendix Two

Proposed additional budget initiatives Page 4 of 4

Planning &
Regeneration

Portfolio

Look to accelerate
development opportunities
within Gravesham

There are a number of sites where development has been agreed but activity has stalled.  This has
impacted on other funding streams (such as business rates, new homes bonus).  The council needs to
take a more pro-active approach to progressing development in the borough.

It is difficult to put a
specific figure against this
initiative but it is felt that
this is something that
should be driven forward.

Immediately

A corporate officer group
has already been
established to progress
this area and work has
started on a Housing
Delivery test Action Plan to
set out how to address this
moving forward.

Potential savings/income that could be achieved from the various initiatives £ 1,274,000

Cabinet Portfolio Initiative Further information Estimated Saving/
Income Generated

How quick to
implement?

P
age 18



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Overview Scrutiny Committee

Date: 22 November 2018

Reporting officer: Nick Brown, Director (Environment & Operations)          
Stuart Alford, Assistant Director (Environment)             
Martin Wates, Horticultural Services Manager

Subject: Scrutiny Review Report - Grass Cutting & Horticulture

Purpose and summary of report:
To present Members with the Grass Cutting & Horticulture Scrutiny Review Report for 
consideration, approval and subsequent submission to Cabinet.

Recommendations:
1. Members are asked to consider the report at Appendix Two, provide any comments / 

amendments and agree a finalised version of the report for submission to Cabinet.

1. Introduction

1.1 At the meeting of the Overview Scrutiny Committee in June 2018, Members selected the 
topic of Grass Cutting & Horticulture for review.

1.2 The membership of the sub-group for the review was agreed as follows:
1.2.1 Grass Cutting & Horticulture

Cllr John Burden (Chair), Cllr Lyn Milner, Cllr Gary Harding, Cllr Sara 
Langdale

1.3 Two comprehensive meetings of the sub-group were held (October and 
November 2018) in order to progress the review and identify possible 
recommendations or options for consideration by Cabinet.

Page 19 Agenda Item 8



2. Review Findings

2.1 The draft report for the review is attached at appendix two to this report and sets 
out the recommendations for consideration by Cabinet, as summarised below:

Grass Cutting & Horticulture Review Recommendations
2.1.1 Improved training for all horticultural operatives on machinery 

usage techniques
2.1.2 Review current tree operating procedure
2.1.3 Planning guidance on appropriate trees and shrubs
2.1.4 Explore additional sites where the practices of ‘set-aside’ areas or 

wildflower meadows can be adopted and to ensure clear 
explanatory signage is used to detail why an area has been set-
aside or a wildflower meadow has been established

2.1.5 A new two person grounds maintenance team should be set up to 
carry out increased levels of grounds maintenance on Housing 
owned sites especially sheltered housing communal areas to 
improve the local environment for residents

2.2 The detailed information to support these recommendations is contained within 
the main body of the review report.

3. BACKGROUND PAPERS

3.1 Background papers pertaining to this report are as follows:

 Member Information Pack – October 2018 – Grass Cutting & Horticulture
 Member Information Pack – November  2018 – Grass Cutting & Horticulture

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 20



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal There are no legal implications resulting from this report. The Constitution sets out 
the roles and responsibilities of the Overview Scrutiny Committee and the activities 
set out within this report are in line with this.

Finance and 
Value for 
Money

It is anticipated that if the recommendations in the report are progressed they will 
offer value for money and potential savings.
If recommendation 5 is progressed; the additional revenue cost of establishing a 
new grounds maintenance team would be £53,380 with an initial capital outlay of 
£18,000 for a new van and associated equipment.  The new team would be funded 
from ongoing salary savings within the HRA budget as the team would be working 
exclusively on Housing owned land.

Risk 
Assessment

There are no specific risks associated with this report.

Screening for Equality Impacts

Question

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

Equality 
Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate 
Plan

The work of the Scrutiny Topic review sub-group in relation to the Grass Cutting & 
Horticulture assists in the delivery of the following Corporate Plan Objectives:

1 - Safer Gravesham
- Deliver a quality built and green environment; keeping streets clean and 

maintaining a high standard of local horticulture
3 – Sustainable Gravesham

- Ensure open and green spaces in future development areas and that 
any new external spaces prioritise walking, cycling and mass transit.

4 – Sound & self-sufficient council
- Continuously review and adapt how we deliver our services to achieve 

financial efficiencies and improved performance.

Crime and 
Disorder

There are no implications in respect of crime and disorder

Page 21



Digital and 
website 
implications

There are no implications in respect of Digital and Website interactions.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable 
adults

There are no implications in respect of safeguarding children and vulnerable adults.

4

Page 22



Overview Scrutiny Committee

Review of Grass Cutting and 
Horticulture Topic Review

Report – November 2018

Page 23



2 | P a g e

Contents

- 3 - Foreword

- 4 - Introduction and Summary of Recommendations

- 6 - Review Findings

- 12 - Appendices

Page 24



3 | P a g e

Foreword

The Overview Scrutiny Committee felt it would be beneficial to explore the horticulture and grass 
cutting service following increased comments from members of the public about the long length of 
the grass and overgrown shrub areas across the borough but particularly within housing funded 
areas.  The Committee wanted to understand where the resources were being directed and whether 
the current resource level was sufficient to provide what is a core service to residents of the 
borough.

This topic review has identified a number of potential improvements that can be made to the way in 
which the horticultural service is delivered across the borough.

We would like to take this opportunity to thank the officers involved in the review for their time and 
assistance in providing comprehensive information which has enabled Members to discuss, debate 
and identify potential improvements for consideration.

Cllr John Burden
Chair of the Sub-group

Page 25



4 | P a g e

Introduction and Summary of Recommendations

1.1 In October 2018, the Overview Scrutiny Committee selected the subject of Grass Cutting and 
Horticulture for a topic review.  The terms of reference for the review focused on objectives 
to:

 Review and understand which areas of land are GBC's responsibility for horticulture and 
grass cutting and which are KCC's responsibility including the removal and replanting of 
trees.  

 Investigate different horticultural practices to manage some grass areas across the 
borough in different ways to increase biodiversity such as wild flower areas or wildlife 
strips. 

 Undertake a review of the resources and equipment currently used and determine 
whether these meet the expectation of the service.

1.2 Throughout the review, Members of the sub-group have been provided with a significant 
amount of information to review and analyse.  The information provided prompted 
numerous questions from Members and in-depth discussion about the way in which 
elements of the grass cutting and horticulture service are provided across the borough.

Summary of Recommendations

1.3 In summary, the Scrutiny Topic review of Grass Cutting and Horticulture has identified five 
recommendations for Cabinet consideration

RECOMMENDATION Report page

1. Improved training for all horticultural operatives on machinery 
usage techniques

To train operational staff on the effective use of horticultural 
equipment especially when using strimmers to avoid getting 
grass cuttings on windows/paths and to keep areas clean and tidy 
once the work has been completed.

Timeframe for actions:

 3 months as part of annual spring training programme 
ready for the new cutting season.

Page 7

2. Review current tree operating procedure

Update the current tree operating procedure in conjunction with 
the Kent Tree Strategy with a view to adopting a ‘2 for 1’ 
replacement programme for any trees that are felled on GBC 
land.  Wherever possible the trees should be sourced/grown 

Page 7 

Page 26



5 | P a g e

RECOMMENDATION Report page

within the UK.

Timeframe for actions:
 6 months

3. Planning guidance on appropriate trees and shrubs

Produce a guide to assist planning applicants in selecting and 
planting the appropriate type of tree for the type of development 
and to encourage the planting of the correct type of blossom and 
deciduous trees in any given location

Timeframe for actions:
 3 months

Page 8

4. Explore additional sites where the practices of ‘set-aside’ areas 
or wildflower meadows can be adopted and to ensure clear 
explanatory signage is used to detail why an area has been set-
aside or a wildflower meadow has been established

Locate additional sites where this practice can be adopted and 
provide clear signage to explain to residents / visitors why an 
area has been set-aside or a wildflower meadow established 
explaining the benefits to the environment of this technique of 
land management in a specific location.

Timeframe for actions:
 Identify suitable sites with immediate effect, prepare and 

start to establish the relevant land management technique 
and provide an update in two years on process.  Existing and 
future sites to have clear signage giving an explanation on the 
relevant land management use technique used for the 
specific location.

Page 10

5. A new two person grounds maintenance team should be set up 
to carry out increased levels of grounds maintenance on 
Housing owned sites especially sheltered housing communal 
areas to improve the local environment for residents

An additional two person grounds maintenance team should be 
set up so maintenance of Housing owned land can be increased 
especially sheltered housing communal areas.  The new team will 
carry out more frequent grass cutting and shrub maintenance 
plus other tasks such as weed spraying to improve the local 

Page 11

Page 27



6 | P a g e

RECOMMENDATION Report page

environment for residents.  The additional revenue cost of 
establishing a new grounds maintenance team would be £53,380 
with an initial capital outlay of £18,000 for a new van and 
associated equipment.  The new team would be funded from 
ongoing salary savings within the HRA budget as the team would 
be working exclusively on Housing owned land. 

Timeframe for actions:
 April 2019

1.4 Further information to support these recommendations is contained within the body of the 
report.

2. Review Findings

Workstream 1 – Review of Borough / County Council responsibilities

2.1 Members of the group were interested in reviewing and understanding which areas of land 
are GBC's responsibility for horticulture and grass cutting and which are KCC's responsibility 
including the removal and replanting of trees.  It was agreed this review would consider the 
levels of maintenance expected, the quality of work required, the use of the voluntary / 
community sector and the maintenance of future green spaces at new housing estates.

2.2 The horticultural responsibilities of both Gravesham Borough Council and Kent County 
Council were explained to the members of the working group.  It was established that there 
is detailed information on both authorities’ websites which includes maps showing the land 
that each authority is responsible for maintaining.

2.3 Members of the committee raised the issue of disputes regarding landownership.  It was 
noted that there are a very small number of occasions arising where it is not known who 
owns the land but these issues are resolved promptly by officers as they come up in 
consultation with Kent County Council.  In some cases, this highlighted that land had not 
been adopted meaning land registry searches were conducted in conjunction with Kent 
County Council to find the responsible party.  As a result the accuracy of the records is 
always improving.

2.4 Members felt that the number of cuts for grass and shrubs undertaken by GBC was an area 
of concern in particular in relation to GBC Housing-owned areas such as sheltered housing 
units.  It was explained that with current resourcing levels, the grass across the borough is 
cut eight times a year except for parks where the grass is cut 12 times a year whilst all 
shrubs receive one visit per year during the winter to ‘cut back and tidy’.

Page 28



7 | P a g e

2.5 Members raised the issue of grass cuttings being sprayed onto windows and paths in some 
instances when strimmers are used to cut the grass edges.  There is a certain technique that 
should be used by grass cutting staff where they should angle the strimmer away from 
windows or paths.  When strimming where grass cuttings have sprayed onto windows or 
paths then a hand blower should be used to remove the cuttings to leave the area clean and 
tidy.

 RECOMMENDATION 1

Improved training for all horticultural operatives on machinery usage techniques

To train operational staff on the effective use of horticultural equipment especially when 
using strimmers to avoid getting grass cuttings on windows/paths and to keep areas clean 
and tidy once the work has been completed.

2.6 The Council’s tree operating procedure was provided to Members of the working group.  
Members wanted to establish why some trees were pruned and some were not.  It was 
explained that some species of trees could be pollarded every 3 to 7 years depending on the 
species and location of the tree.  This technique allows large trees to be retained in densely 
populated urban areas by limiting the tree canopy size.  However, it was highlighted that 
some trees were not suitable for this management technique and this supported the need 
for proper consideration to be given to selecting appropriate trees for each location.   

2.7 The Council responds to every call about trees by sending out our tree officer to inspect and 
assess the problem.  After weighing up all the factors, a decision is then made as to whether 
any works are required to deal with the particular issue raised.

RECOMMENDATION 2

Review current tree operating procedure

Update the current tree operating procedure in conjunction with the Kent Tree Strategy 
with a view to adopting a ‘2 for 1’ replacement programme for any trees that are felled on 
GBC land.  Wherever possible the trees should be sourced/grown within the UK.

2.8 Members asked whether guidance was provided to developers to ensure that the right trees 
were planted in the right place to prevent future maintenance problems being created for 
the landowner or the Council.  It was also requested that a list of suitable blossom and 
deciduous trees should be established as part of planning guidance available to planning 
applicants to assist them in selecting appropriate trees or shrubs for their development.  
Guidance will also be obtained from the Royal Horticultural Society’s website

Page 29



8 | P a g e

RECOMMENDATION 3

Planning guidance on appropriate trees and shrubs

Produce a guide to assist planning applicants in selecting and planting the appropriate type 
of tree for the type of development and to encourage the planting of the correct type of 
blossom and deciduous trees in any given location.

2.9 Members were interested to know whether the voluntary / community sector could be used 
to increase the extent and quality of grounds maintenance at some sites around the 
borough.  The Council already has a number of community groups that maintain certain 
sections of land particularly in relation to sheltered housing units.  Information was provided 
to Members to outline the process that the Council follows, including training and risk 
assessments required to ensure that maintenance carried out by the volunteers is carried 
out safely.

2.10 Appendix 1 provides more detailed information on the objectives outlined in workstream 1 
including an explanation of GBC/KCC grounds maintenance responsibilities.

Workstream 2 – Alternative horticultural practices

2.11 Members wanted to investigate the different horticultural practices used to manage some 
grass areas in different ways across the borough to increase biodiversity.  In particular 
Members were interested in practices such as the use of wild flower areas or wildlife strips 
in specific locations.

2.12 Further information was provided to Members to explain why and how the two horticultural 
practices of ‘set-aside’ and wildflower meadows would be used in various locations around 
the borough

 Set-aside – We currently practice a set-aside approach at a number of GBC parks and 
open spaces.  Sites include Camer Park, Culverstone Open Space, The Warren and The 
Dell area of the Riverside Leisure Area.  

This management technique is simple to adopt and essentially means leaving designated 
areas of grass that we previously cut at a high frequency to grow long.  These areas are 
then flail cut once a year at the end of the summer once any wild flower seed has set.

Advantages

 Promotes increased plant diversity which attracts insects and other invertebrates 
(including butterflies, bees, spiders and millipedes), birds and mammals.

 Flowering species add colour, change the feel, and introduce a sound and sensory 
experience to an otherwise bland and uniform open space.  This approach 
significantly enhances the aesthetics of the area and has been well received by the 
public.

 Maintenance liability for the area is reduced from 12 cylinder mowing cuts down to 
just 1 rear flail cut per annum. This saves staff time and reduces our carbon 
footprint.

Page 30



9 | P a g e

Disadvantages

 If not managed correctly, by using short mown grass paths in-between long grass 
areas together with appropriate signage to inform and educate the general public, 
the perception can be that the council has failed to maintain the area properly.

 Experience has shown that in some urban areas, the long grass can act as a litter 
trap.  Short mown grass is easier to litter pick and keep clean and tidy.

 Some dog walkers complain about grass seeds getting in their dog’s ears leading to 
unnecessary vet’s bills.

 Can lead to increased complaints about dog fouling as it’s not picked up as 
consistently as it is in areas where the grass is long.

 Wild Flower Meadows – We have trialled wild flower meadows in a number of areas across 
the borough but experience has shown us that careful consideration needs to be given to 
choose the most appropriate locations for this practice.  Sites include The Dell area, Gordon 
Gardens, Northfleet Cemetery, St Andrew’s Gardens and a former formal bedding display 
bed at the junction of Earl Road and St Margaret’s Road in Northfleet.  

This management technique is very popular and can be really effective in creating 
aesthetically pleasing displays with the added benefit of enhancing biodiversity.  

Advantages

 The significant increase in wildflower species attracts insects and other invertebrates 
(including butterflies, bees, spiders and millipedes), birds and mammals.

 Aesthetically these areas can look absolutely stunning at certain times of the year 
with vibrant contrasting colours.  

 For short periods, these areas can look as attractive as formal bedding displays and 
can be achieved at a fraction of the cost as the plants do not need to be replaced 
year or year.

Disadvantages

 When compared to set-aside or high frequency amenity grass, these areas can be 
expensive and labour intensive to maintain.

 Every year, wildflower meadows require a herbicide application to remove perennial 
weeds and grasses, rotorvation, raking and levelling, seed purchasing and sowing 
and in dry seasons irrigation during the germination phase. 

 At certain times of the year, these areas can look untidy and unloved and can 
sometimes lead to complaints from the public and a perception that we aren’t doing 
our job properly.

2.13 It was recognised that a number of set-aside areas and wildflower meadows had been 
established across the borough and it was important that these land maintenance 
techniques were used in the correct areas.  However it is important that the reasoning 
behind these land use techniques is clearly explained so people do not feel it is down to a 

Page 31



10 | P a g e

lack of maintenance.  Members were keen to see these types of horticultural techniques 
used as widely as possible and were equally keen to see that appropriate signage is used to 
clearly explain the approach that is being used so that the public see that the approach used 
in each area has been a conscious decision and that it has environmental benefits.

2.14 Encourage the involvement of schools where possible to help select sites so the children can 
understand these land management techniques and also to see how these areas can be are 
developed and improved.

2.15 If Members have particular areas they feel would be suitable for ‘set-aside’ or a wildflower 
meadow then these should be presented to the Horticultural Services Manager who will 
review the suggested area for its viability.  Members asked that Kent Highways are 
encouraged to use these techniques on roundabouts within the borough.

RECOMMENDATION  4

Explore additional sites where the practices of ‘set-aside’ areas or wildflower meadows 
can be adopted and to ensure clear explanatory signage is used to detail why an area has 
been set-aside or a wildflower meadow has been established

Locate additional sites where this practice can be adopted and provide clear signage to 
explain to residents / visitors why an area has been set-aside or a wildflower meadow 
established explaining the benefits to the environment of this technique of land 
management in a specific location.

Workstream 3 – Review resources and equipment

2.16 The service currently incorporates a Horticultural Manager, a Parks and Trees Officer, a 
Horticultural Supervisor, 18 Grounds Maintenance Operatives, (5 of which are seasonal) and 
2 Park Rangers.  

2.17 In addition to all of the standard horticultural maintenance tasks such as grass cutting and 
shrub maintenance, the horticultural staff also carry out the inspection and maintenance of 
the council’s playgrounds, prepare and mark out 19 football pitches and carry out allotment 
checks.

2.18 Members noted that if all of the issues raised within the review were as a result of the level 
of resources available then as part of the Topic Review, additional resources should be 
identified and directed to key target areas.  Members felt that this is a core service that 
could affect the public’s perception of the Borough and was also a quality of life issue for 
residents and visitors to the borough.

2.19 Members highlighted a particular concern over the maintenance of Housing owned land and 
suggested an additional two person team could be set up so maintenance of Housing owned 
land could be increased especially in relation to sheltered housing communal areas.  The 
new team could then carry out more frequent grass cutting and shrub maintenance plus 
other tasks such as weed spraying to improve the local environment for residents.  Officers 
have calculated that the additional revenue cost of establishing a new two person grounds 

Page 32



11 | P a g e

maintenance team would be £53,380 with an initial capital outlay of £18,000 for a new van 
and associated equipment.  Members of the topic review group unanimously agreed this 
proposal and suggested that funding for the team should be made available from the HRA as 
the team would be working exclusively on Housing owned land. 

RECOMMENDATION  5

A new two person grounds maintenance team should be set up to carry out increased 
levels of grounds maintenance on Housing owned sites especially sheltered housing 
communal areas to improve the local environment for residents

An additional two person grounds maintenance team should be set up so maintenance of 
Housing owned land can be increased especially sheltered housing communal areas.  The 
new team will carry out more frequent grass cutting and shrub maintenance plus other tasks 
such as weed spraying to improve the local environment for residents.  The additional 
revenue cost of establishing a new grounds maintenance team would be £53,380 with an 
initial capital outlay of £18,000 for a new van and associated equipment.  The new team 
would be funded from ongoing salary savings within the HRA budget as the team would be 
working exclusively on Housing owned land. 

2.20 The current level and make up of equipment was explained to Members.  As part of the 10 
year fleet renewals programme the equipment used by the horticulture department has 
been reviewed by the Horticulture Services Manager and the Transport Manager to ensure 
the equipment continues to meet the requirements of the service.

2.21 This review gave rise to a change from the standard cylinder ride-on style mower to a rotary 
deck mower which provides greater versatility when cutting both long and short grass.  
Further demonstrations and reviews led to the purchasing of a new set of gang mowers for 
the parks mowing instead of changing to a rotary mower for this type of work as the gang 
mowers give a better and more consistent cut.  This new approach has led to more efficient 
and effective grass cutting across the borough.

2.22 The current horticultural fleet consists of 8 medium vans, 5 tipper vans, 2 small vans, a 
tractor, 10 ride-on mowers and various hand mowers, hedge trimmers and strimmers.

2.23 Members felt that the type and level of equipment was sufficient to carry out the operation, 
however it was felt that staff resources needed to be increased to provide a better quality of 
service within the housing owned areas and sheltered housing units.

Page 33



12 | P a g e

Appendices

Page 34



Workstream 1 – Review of Borough and County Council responsibilities   Appendix 1

Authority Gravesham Borough Council Kent County Council

Who is 
responsible for 
what

Grass and shrubs are cut at the following sites across 
the borough

 Gravesham Borough Council owned parks 
and open spaces

 Gravesham Borough Council owned housing 
sites

 Gravesend and Northfleet cemeteries
 Churchyards closed for new burials
 Some sites in Gravesend Town Centre

A plan of GBC owned sites can be found at 
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/street-care-and-
cleaning/grass-trees-hedges/overview 

Kent Count Council are responsibility for the following 

 Rural road side verges
 Urban road side verges
 Grass adjacent to road junctions
  Shrub beds adjacent to the highway

Plan of KCC responsibilities can be found at 
http://www.kent.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/report-a-problem 

What is the 
expected level 
of maintenance

Grass areas generally receive eight cuts a year 
between March and October.  Operational issues and 
weather can impact on our grass cutting service 
meaning in some seasons there may be seven or 
nine cuts.

Large grass areas in our main parks receive 12 cuts a 
year.

Location 
of grass What we cut When we cut

Rural 
grass

We cut a 900mm (3 foot) 
strip next to the road edge 
using a tractor mounted 
mower.

A cut between May and 
September to maintain 
highway safety.

P
age 35

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/street-care-and-cleaning/grass-trees-hedges/overview
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/street-care-and-cleaning/grass-trees-hedges/overview
http://www.kent.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/report-a-problem


14 | P a g e

Shrubs receive one visit a year between November 
and February.

Urban 
grass

Grass located next to 
roads or footpaths, 
normally within the town 
or village centre and 30 
mph limit.

Cut between March and 
October (about once 
every 5 weeks) to 
maintain highway 
safety. 

In urban grass areas, 
we wait until 6 weeks 
after the flowering 
period before cutting 
spring flowers, such as 
daffodils, so they will 
grow the following year.

Visibility 
areas

Grass that is adjacent to a 
road junction and is within 
the sight line for drivers 
turning in or out.

Cut between April and 
October (about every 2 
months) to maintain 
highway safety.

Shrubs

Prune and weed shrub 
beds .  Shrubs are 
trimmed enough to allow 
for next year's growth, 
and to ensure that the 
highway is safe to use. 
This includes cutting back 
from kerb edges and 

Prune and weed shrub 
beds during the autumn 
and winter months

P
age 36



15 | P a g e

nearby fences.

Quality of work 
required

Litter clearance is carried out before grass cutting is 
undertaken.  We do not collect cuttings following 
mowing, but cuttings should be spread evenly over 
the surface. Any cuttings on the footpaths or roads 
after mowing will be blown back onto the verge and 
obstacles such as bollards strimmed around.

Do not collect cuttings following mowing, but they should be spread 
evenly over the surface. Any cuttings on the footpaths or roads after 
mowing will be blown back onto the verge and obstacles like streetlights 
strimmed around.

This may not happen on the same day as a different team will do this. We 
do not collect cuttings due to extra costs of equipment and disposal.

Use of voluntary 
/ community 
sector

We currently run a scheme whereby residents of 
GBC owned sheltered accommodation can assist 
with the grass cutting and grounds maintenance on 
the communal gardens where they live.  The process 
works as follows:

 Resident(s) expresses wish to maintain 
communal garden area

 Risk assessment is produced to identify main 
risks with particular site and machinery 
proposed

 GBC Horticultural Supervisor carries out 
safety briefing with volunteers talking them 
through the risk assessment and control 
measures.

 Only residents that attend the safety briefing 
can carry out the maintenance work. If other 

Grass cutting

If you would like to cut the grass more often than we can, this is okay 
provided it can be carried out safely.

Grass cuttings can be left evenly spread over the mown verge or 
disposed of with your lawn cuttings. Please do not pile them on the verge 
or leave them where they can block drains or ditches.

Bulbs and wildflowers

If you would like to plant bulbs such as daffodils and crocus in verges, 
please contact KCC beforehand. By telling us, we can try and make sure 
the verges are not cut until after the flowering period.

P
age 37



16 | P a g e

residents choose to garden, they do so at 
their own risk.

 Residents decide how much they want to take 
on and are advised that the area can be 
handed back for GBC to continue 
maintenance at any time.

 This is currently happening at Beatrice 
Gardens, Chinnery Court and St Gregory’s 
Court.

Future adoption 
& maintenance 
of sites

GBC do not adopt new sites for maintenance, these 
sites fall under the developer’s responsibility to 
arrange for a management company to manage the 
sites and would be funded by residents of the site.

KCC do not adopt new roadside verges or trees.  These sites would fall 
under the developer’s responsibility to arrange for a management 
company to manage the sites funded by residents of the site. 

Maintenance of 
Trees

Trees are inspected by our tree officer on both a 
planned rotational basis and on an ad hoc basis when 
contacted by members of the public.

Gravesham Borough Council IS responsible for the 
following trees:-

 Trees on GBC Leisure land, including 
designated open space, e.g. Woodlands Park, 
Gordon Gardens, Windmill Hill etc.

 Trees on GBC Housing land, e.g. St Patrick’s 
Gardens and Fountain Walk communal 
garden areas.

 Trees on GBC Estates land, e.g. parts of 
Springhead Enterprise Park.

Trees are inspected on a planned rotational basis by experienced and 
qualified professionals.

When inspecting trees we assess:

 condition
 potential risks and hazards
 width and height clearance required for the road
 any required works.

We do not deal with nuisance related issues, such as:

 height and width of tree canopy
 falling leaves, seeds and sap
 insect or bird droppings
 light and shading
 branches overhanging private property
 interference with television reception, telephone/power cables and 

solar panels.

P
age 38



17 | P a g e

Gravesham Borough Council IS NOT responsible for 
the following trees:-

 Trees on Highway land, e.g. trees on footways 
or in Highway verges.  These are the 
responsibility of Kent County Council which 
has their own tree management programme. 

 Trees on Parish Council owned land, e.g. the 
green in Edmund Close, Meopham; these are 
the responsibility of the relevant Parish 
Council which should be contacted directly.

 Trees in individual council housing gardens.  
These are the tenant’s responsibility and 
enquiries need to be directed to the relevant 
Housing Officer for the area in the first 
instance.

 Trees on private land or private gardens. 
These are the responsibility of the relevant 
landowner.

Tree Stumps

If we must cut down trees, the stumps will be cut at approximately one 
metre in height. This is less likely to be a trip hazard.

We aim to remove stumps from grass verges within three months. 
However, funds currently restrict the removal of stumps within a hard 
surfaces such as pavements, and these may remain for a number of 
years prior to removal.

Tree Planting  Gravesham Borough Council‘s Horticultural 
Services Team carries out an annual tree 
planting program every winter in December / 
January.  

 The following table details the number of 
standard trees, (trees that are over 10cm in 
girth at 1.5m above ground level), other trees 
and whips that we planted in the last 5 years.  
The table also includes the number of trees 

We plant trees from early November to the end of March.

We replant all trees that are protected by a Tree Preservation Order 
(TPO) within 2 years of removal.

Unfortunately, we are no longer able to facilitate a general tree 
replacement programme. However, we actively work with residents, 

P
age 39



18 | P a g e

that we felled during this period.

  

Year

Standard 
trees 

planted

Other 
trees 

planted

Whips 
planted 

Number 
of trees 
felled

2017/18 12 18 0 25

2016/17 10 17 0 17

2015/16 13 12 0 17

2014/15 13 3 3900* 27

2013/14 10 5 420* 23

  

*Whips were funded by Forestry Commission and the 
North West Countryside Partnership as part of the Big 
Tree Plant and planted in conjunction with 
Groundwork South.  

councillors and voluntary groups who provide external funding for this 
purpose.

Further information can be found at http://www.kent.gov.uk/roads-and-
travel/what-we-look-after/soft-landscape-maintenance/trees 

P
age 40

http://www.kent.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/what-we-look-after/soft-landscape-maintenance/trees
http://www.kent.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/what-we-look-after/soft-landscape-maintenance/trees

	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	6 Balancing the Budget - Additional Budget Initiatives
	2. Appendix Two - Proposed Budget Iniatives - Options (by portfolio)

	8 Scrutiny Review of Grass Cutting & Horticulture - Draft Report
	Apppendix Two - Grass Cutting & Horticulture Topic Review Report


